

BYLAWS of the East Phillips Improvement Coalition, Inc. (EPIC)

Originated 7/28/2000, Revised 4/03/03, Revised 1, 2004, Revised 3/19/05, Revised 4/12/06, Amended 4/27/2013, Further Amended 8/10/2017

ARTICLE I – NAME

The name of this organization shall be the East Phillips Improvement Coalition, Inc. ("EPIC")

ARTICLE II - MISSION

The East Phillips Improvement Coalition, Inc. (EPIC) is organized exclusively for charitable, scientific and educational purposes within the meaning of section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code. EPIC shall promote the social health of the community by involving all citizens in its activities and shall reach out to all segments of the community including traditionally under-represented groups. EPIC will promote the economic health of the community by fostering employment and business opportunities that meet the needs of the community. EPIC will act in the best interests of its community and represent those interests to other organizations and public bodies. This includes recommending action to governmental bodies and responding to proposals for residential and commercial development or livability in the East Phillips Area.

The purpose of EPIC shall be to work to create a safe community that contains open communication between neighbors:

- 1. to strengthen, stabilize, improve and protect the unique and integrated character, livability, and social fabric of our neighborhood,
- 2. to improve the quality of housing, schooling, employment, recreation, day care, transportation facilities, environment and other neighborhood services,
- 3. to encourage economic development for all the residents of East Phillips, especially the economically disadvantaged and
- 4. to work to encourage and empower all residents, businesses and property owners to unite to address our common concerns.

ARTICLE III – NEIGHBORHOOD BOUNDARIES

The Neighborhood Boundaries of East Phillips shall be the following:

- South: Lake Street
- East: Highway 55 (Hiawatha Avenue)
- West: Bloomington Avenue
- North: East 24th Street with the exception of the inclusion of East Phillips Park which takes the north boundary north on 17th Avenue to East 22nd Street and along East 22nd Street to Hiawatha Avenue.

ARTICLE IV- MEMBERSHIP

Section 1: Voting membership and voting rights. Eligibility for admission to voting membership shall be set out in Section 2. Eligible individuals who wish to become "Voting Members" must attend a regular EPIC meeting and sign the attendance sheet and mark that he/she is requesting membership in EPIC. The Secretary shall keep track of membership and verify proof of eligibility in accordance with Article I, Section 4. Proof of residency or other forms of eligibility as per Article IV, Section 2, will be required for voting rights to be effective. Proof of business ownership requires a letter on original letterhead with the address and phone number as well as the original signature of the owner of the business. No dues shall be required for admission. Each voting member shall have one (1) vote. A list of the voting membership of this corporation, as required by Minnesota law, shall be kept in the office of the East Phillips Improvement Coalition pursuant to Article IV, Section 4 of these By-laws.

Section 2: <u>Eligibility for General Membership:</u> Any person 18 years of age or older who falls into one or more of the following categories shall be eligible for membership in EPIC: (1) a resident of the East Phillips Neighborhood; (2) owner of property in the neighborhood; (3) acting as the sole representative of a business with its main office in the neighborhood. An owner of a non-profit or for-profit business or the representative of the non-profit or for-profit business located in the East Phillips Neighborhood must provide an original letter on letterhead with address and phone number for voting rights as well as an original signature of the owner of the business. If the business representative of the non-profit or for-profit is present to vote, the letter must identify by name the individual who has the voting right for the non-profit or the for-profit business. Additionally, the owner or business of the non-profit or for-profit representative must provide picture identification prior to being allowed to vote.

No proxy votes are allowed by a resident of East Phillips, property owner in East Phillips or non-profit or for-profit business located in East Phillips.

Section 3: <u>Limitation</u>: Regarding those persons who work for or operate a non-profit or for-profit business in this neighborhood but do not live here, only one such person or representative per organization shall be a voting member of EPIC or the EPIC Board of Directors.

Section 4: <u>Right to Vote:</u> Members with voting rights are, at a minimum, individuals who are on a preexisting membership list (in accordance with Article IV, Section 1 and 2), or who, at a meeting of the organization, request membership and can produce: (1) a Minnesota driver's license, Minnesota identification card, or some form of residency verification that indicates the individual resides within the geographic boundaries of East Phillips such as a lease or current utility bill; (2) or are individuals who reside within the geographic boundaries of East Phillips and request membership but lack the documentation required may vote at a meeting of East Phillips if a member who has the required documentation vouches for the individual's residency. Such individuals may become voting members of EPIC.

Section 5: <u>Powers and Responsibilities of Members</u>:

- a. Any member as defined in Section 1 and 2, Article IV, may vote on all issues presented at the Annual Meeting, any Special Community Meeting and at monthly membership meetings. Members can vote at Committee meetings of which they are a member.
- b. Members shall elect the Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting.
- c. Members receive invitations to the annual meeting and all other special community activities or meetings of the EPIC organization as well as the regular monthly meetings.
- d. Members may amend the Bylaws in accordance with Article XI.
- **e.** Members are encouraged to donate time, expertise, and energy to the organization each membership year.
- f. Only current members are permitted to be board members

Section 6: <u>Terms of Membership</u>: Membership terminates at such point as (1) a resident voting member moves or relocates to a location outside of the East Phillips geographic area or (2) a non-resident voting member is no longer the owner of real property in the East Phillips geographic area or (3) the non-profit or for-profit business sending a representative no longer exists within the East Phillips geographic area. Membership for a business representative terminates at the time when he or she is either replaced or no longer employed by the business. 4) A member submits a resignation consistent with Section 7.

Section 6: <u>Interest in Property:</u> The members of this corporation shall not, as such, have any right, title, or interest in the real or personal property of this corporation.

Section 7: <u>Resignation</u>: Any general member may resign his/her membership at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors or to the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect at the date of the receipt of such notice or at any time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Any former member who wishes to reinstate his or her membership must give written notice to the Board of Directors or the Secretary. They should then be reinstated as a general member consistent with Article IV, Section 2.

ARTICLE V – MEETINGS

Section 1: <u>Regular Monthly Membership Meetings</u>: shall be held once a month by the members of EPIC for the purpose of sharing information, discussing neighborhood business and making decisions. They shall be held at such time and place as may be fixed by resolution of the Board. Date, time, and place shall be announced at the previous monthly meeting and the local Phillips newspaper will carry notification of the meeting. In addition, flyering will be done as possible and on a limited basis. A phone tree, e-mail and/or website may be used.

Section 2: <u>Annual Meeting</u>: The date of the regular annual meeting shall be in March of each year, or under extenuating circumstances within the month of April. The Board of Directors shall set the time and place. The agenda of the annual meeting shall include an annual activities report, election of Board members, financial status of the organization and other business as deemed necessary by the Board of Directors. Notice of the annual meeting shall be given to all voting members and all East Phillips residents eligible for membership by announcement at the previous two monthly membership meetings, by E-News, Alley Newspaper, the EPIC Website and flyering, not less than twenty-one (21) days before the meeting.

Section 3: Special Membership Meetings: Special membership meetings may be called at any time by the (a) President, (b) by at least four of the elected Board members, or by a simple majority (50% +1) of those members in attendance at any membership meeting. Any call for a special membership meeting must include an agenda for the meeting. The Board of Directors shall set the date, time and place for special membership meetings, which shall be within thirty days of the call for the meeting. A special meeting will be announced at the previous monthly membership meeting and/or the local Phillips newspaper and email list will carry notification of the meeting or, in case of emergency, notice shall be given at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the meeting by the President or Secretary by mail, personal contact by telephone, e-mail, or in person.

Section 4: Members list for meeting: The Board of Directors shall fix a date not more than twenty-one (21) days nor less than three (3) days before the date of a meeting of the general membership as the date for determination of the members entitled to notice of the meeting; whenever the Board fails to set a date, the date shall be the third day before the date of the meeting. After fixing a recorded date for the meeting, the Secretary shall prepare a list of the names (in alphabetical order) and addresses (or emails) of each member entitled to vote at the meeting that shall be available beginning two business days after notice of the meeting is given (or if none is

required, two days after the record date for the meeting). The list is confidential and may not be copied. It shall remain available to the EPIC Board of Directors and/or staff for authorized purposes

only. It will be available at the EPIC meeting itself and prior to the meeting, at the principal office of this corporation for inspection.

East Phillips residents or the representative of a non-profit or for-profit business whose names are not on the list are entitled to vote on all issues presented for a vote at any meeting at which they are present and to fully participate in the business of EPIC by demonstrating current residency (in accordance with Article IV, Sections 1 and 2) or by demonstrating their current status as a representative of a non-profit or for-profit business within the geographic area of East Phillips and by enlisting themselves as members of EPIC.

Section 5: Quorum: A quorum at any membership meeting shall consist of a majority of the current Board of Directors. This majority of the EPIC Board of Directors must be present for official EPIC business to be transacted or motions made or passed at both at an EPIC Board meeting and at a general membership meeting. This means that EPIC official business shall not be transacted apart from the combined decision-making authority of the EPIC monthly membership meetings and a majority of the current members of the Board of Directors. If either body is not actually present, any decisions made shall not be considered to be official EPIC decisions, and shall be legally null and void. The only exceptions to this are votes for expenditures of less than \$1,000 and votes on policies and procedures. These require only a Board vote by a Quorum of the current Board of Directions. (See Article V, Section 7 c and Article VI, section 10)

Section 6: <u>Open Meetings</u>: All meetings shall be open to the public with the exception of those closed for attorney/client privilege and personnel decisions.

Section 7: General Membership Meetings:

- a. Items may be placed on the agenda by contacting the President, secretary, board member or designated staff within 5 days before the meeting. They will concur to provide the agenda for the meeting. The monthly membership meeting agenda may be modified as needed by the President any time before the meeting. Members may also propose agenda items and changes at the beginning of a membership meeting. A vote of the membership must be taken to add additional items to the agenda once it has been approved by the members.
- b. Items may be voted on at the monthly membership meeting only if they are placed on the agenda. If the agenda exceeds the time available, the President may call for the adjournment of the meeting. However, a vote of a majority of the members present (according to Robert's Rules of Order) can extend the time of adjournment.
- c. An issue can be brought up without notification under new business, but then must be sent to a committee or placed on the next month's agenda for full discussion and voting, if necessary. An issue regarding money of over \$1,000, the expenditure must be recommended by the board and have at least one general membership meeting's required notification and vote for review, in any case not less than twenty-one (21) days, allowing for at minimum a full 21-day neighborhood review process. The reviewed motion shall then be voted on at an EPIC membership meeting following the review. This review process is to include amendments to the Bylaws. (revision 4/27/13). The EPIC Board of Directors can approve the expenditure of money up to \$1,000 without giving one month's notification at either the Board or the general membership meeting and without the need for a 21-day neighborhood review process and second meeting. The decision for expenditure of money up to \$1,000 shall be voted on at the Board of Directors meeting without further discussion or voting required. (revision: 4/3/2003).

- e. In the case of items of concern to other Neighborhoods of Phillips, which may affect them, the President will send a letter or call the other neighborhood Chairs, or in special cases, send a Representative to that neighborhood to explain the issue and the action being considered. Collaborative efforts with other neighborhoods will be encouraged.
- f. With a 2/3rds majority vote, the members present at the monthly membership meeting may grant limited committee approval power for items not requiring full due diligence and items necessary to implement the decisions of the membership meeting.

Section 8: <u>Meeting Order</u>: All meetings shall be conducted according to Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised unless stated otherwise in the EPIC Bylaws or Policies and Procedures.

ARTICLE VI - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1: <u>Board Purpose</u>, <u>Size</u>, <u>Compensation</u>: The general purpose of the Board of Directors is to manage the business of the neighborhood in accord with its Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, EPIC's Policies and Procedures, all applicable law, and such policies, purposes, and directives as have been generated by the EPIC Board and general membership. The Board shall consist of nine (9) Directors, all of whom must be members of EPIC, and a majority of whom must reside within the boundaries of East Phillips area of service. The Board receives no compensation other than reasonable expenses incurred on behalf of the corporation and its projects and programs. Service to the well being of East Phillips is the Board's primary purpose. The Board must also provide a quorum for both the EPIC monthly membership meetings and the board meetings in accordance with Article V, Section 5.

Section 2: <u>Board of Directors' Meetings:</u> The Board of Directors shall normally meet monthly at an agreed upon time and place to prepare the agenda and discuss EPIC business in order to make recommendations to the monthly membership meetings. Board meetings will be announced at the regular monthly membership meeting and are open to the public, unless otherwise announced as per section Article V, Section 6 (see Article V, Section 7 for further procedures concerning meeting agendas).

Section 3: <u>Notification</u>: An official Board meeting follows the Annual Calendar and requires no further notice. However, Board meetings will be announced at the regular monthly membership meeting and are open to the public. Also, every Board Member must be notified by email, phone, text, or Facebook messenger one week in advance if a regular meeting is rescheduled. Notice of any changes in the place or time of holding any regular meeting, or of any adjournment of a regular meeting to reconvene at a different place, shall be given personally, by email, phone, text, or Facebook messenger, not less than two (2) days before the meeting, excluding the day of the meeting, to all directors who were absent at the time such action to schedule the meeting was taken. However, in case of emergency, notice shall be given at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the meeting to all Board Members and posted on the website to the general membership.

Section 4: <u>Special Meetings</u>: A special meeting may be called by 3 members of the Executive Committee or by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors. Notice will follow guidelines found in this Article, Section 3.

Section 5: <u>Board Elections</u>: Election of new Directors or election of current Directors to another term will occur at the Annual Meeting of the corporation. The board may create a nominating committee from its members with two non-Directors on it to manage the election. (See Policies and Procedures Manual for details) Directors will be elected by a majority vote of those present, qualified to vote, and voting at the Annual Meeting. Advanced notice of the screening process will

be given at least 21 days prior to the election. All candidates must have completed the three forms: Board of Directors Application form, Qualifications, and the Board Contract, found in EPIC's Policies and Procedures Manual, and have their eligibility verified prior to standing for election. Candidates found to be ineligible will not be allowed to stand for election. Nominations may proceed from the floor of the Annual Meeting and a time must be set prior to voting to assure eligibility of all candidates. Eligibility will be determined by two current board members not involved in the election following the requirements stated in Article IV, Sections 2, 3 and 4.

Section 6: <u>Terms</u>: All members of the Board of Directors shall serve two-(2) year - staggered terms and are eligible for re-election. There are no term limits.

Section 7: Quorum: A quorum at a Board of Directors meeting shall consist of a majority of the current members of the Board of Directors. A majority of Board members currently serving must also be present for official business to be transacted or motions made or passed at a monthly membership meeting. If a majority of the current members of the Board of Directors is not present at a monthly membership meeting any decisions made shall not be considered to be official EPIC decisions. It is to be noted, however, that official EPIC business may not be transacted apart from the combined decision-making authority of the EPIC monthly membership meetings and a majority of the current members of the Board of Directors with the exception of expenditures of under \$1000, which require only a Board vote of approval. (See Article V, Section 7c.)

Section 8: Written action (action without meeting): Any action permitted to be taken at a meeting of the directors may be taken by written action signed and approved by a majority of the Directors entitled to vote on the action.

Section 9: Powers and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors: The Board shall elect or choose by consensus a President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer at the first Board Meeting following the Annual Election Meeting. The officers must be chosen from the current members of the Board of Directors. Other decisions of the Board of Directors, with the exception of voting on expenditures of \$1,000 or less, are advisory including their duty to fill Board vacancies between Annual Meetings. Other exceptions to the advisory power of the Board are those decisions which involve legal issues. This includes the creation of policies and procedures. The Board is required by law to take actions to protect the viability of the organization, its independence from outside coercion, its freedom from legal liability and its adherence to its central mission. Board rulings with regard to these concerns do not require membership approval and are necessary given the fact that by law the board bears sole legal liability for the actions of EPIC. The Board also has the power to create committees. The Board must also provide a quorum at EPIC monthly membership meetings and provide a representative for the Community Garden Steering Committee.

Section 10: <u>Officers and Duties</u>: Executive Officers shall consist of a President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer. Officers preside in the following order: President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer.

a. The President shall be a resident of East Phillips. The President, with the assistance of the board members, sets the agenda for board and membership meetings as well as special meetings called by the board. The President shall have general active management of the business of the corporation; when present, preside at meetings of the board and of the monthly general membership meetings; see that orders and resolutions of the board are carried into effect; sign and deliver in the name of this corporation's deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments pertaining to the business of the corporation, except in cases in which the authority to sign and deliver is required by law to be exercised by another person or is expressly delegated by this corporation's organizational documents or by the board to another officer or agent of the corporation; maintain records of and, when necessary, certify proceedings of the board and the general membership; and perform other

duties prescribed by the board. The President shall be a member <u>ex officio</u> of all committees. From time to time the President may delegate his or her responsibilities to other members of the Board or to the Executive Committee, except those required of the President by law.

- b. <u>The Vice President</u> shall be a resident of East Phillips. In the event of absence or disability of the President, the Vice President shall perform all the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers and restrictions of the President. The Vice President will chair committees on special subjects as designated by the Board.
- c. <u>The Secretary</u> shall maintain a list of the members of the corporation, keep the corporation's records and minutes, fulfill the usual duties required by such office, and perform such other duties

and exercises such other powers as may from time to time be imposed upon that position by resolution of the board.

- d. <u>The Treasurer</u> shall keep accurate financial records for the corporation; deposit money, drafts and checks in the name of and to the credit of the corporation in the bank and depositories designated by the board; endorse for deposit notes, checks and drafts received by the corporation as ordered by the board; and upon request, provide the President, the board, and general membership at its monthly meeting an account of transactions by the Treasurer and of the financial condition of the corporation. The Treasurer shall assist in the preparation of the budget and help develop fundraising plans.
- e. <u>Sharing of Executive Duties:</u> By mutual consent, the members of the Executive Committee may from time to time share the duties and obligations of the various official Executive Offices of the Board, with the exception of those duties required of these positions by law.

Section 11: <u>Vacancies</u>: When a vacancy on the Board occurs between Annual Meetings, nominations for new members may be received from present Board members and the general membership by the Secretary two weeks in advance of a Board meeting. These nominations must be accompanied by the application forms and verified eligibility as per Article IV, Section 2 of the EPIC Bylaws and EPIC's Policies and Procedures. The Executive Committee is responsible for verifying eligibility. Nominations shall be sent out to Board members with the regular Board meeting announcement, to be voted on at the next Board meeting where a quorum is present. The Board decision must then be ratified by the majority of those members present at the next monthly membership meeting. If this process is unsuccessful, it must be repeated until an acceptable Director is elected. All vacancies filled in this manner expire at the next Annual Meeting.

Section 12: Resignation, Termination, and Absences: Resignation from the Board must be in writing and received by the Secretary. Directors are requested to give no less than thirty days' notice of resignation from the Board of Directors. A Board member shall be dropped from the Board if s/he has three consecutive unexcused absences or four nonconsecutive unexcused absences from monthly membership meetings or meetings of the Board of Directors in a year. An absence must be called or emailed to a member of the Executive Committee who will report it in the minutes of record for that meeting. Excused absences include family emergencies, religious holidays, employment obligations, and meeting scheduling conflicts. Board members are responsible for understanding the board business conducted in their absence and are expected to support motions passed and actions taken in their absence.

Section 13: <u>Removal of Director:</u> A director may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the Board of the Directors of the corporation and by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the general membership at the next regularly scheduled general membership meeting

<u>Conflict of Interest</u>: No person who participates individually or on behalf of a community non-profit or for-profit organization or group, or on behalf of a business in the activities of EPIC, or family member(s) of such person(s) (including domestic partner) who subsequently receives program funds, whether by means of a contract, grant, loan or similar agreement shall personally benefit to a greater extent than other eligible person(s), groups or businesses because of such participation.

Therefore, a conflict of interest exists if any Board member, committee participant, staff, consultant, or member of the organization or family member knows (or has reason to know) that he/she or an organization or family member with which he/she is directly affiliated is (or is likely to become) either

- 1. A participant in a project or development affected by a decision of the Board of Directors or other membership meeting or
- 2. A party mentioned in any contract, grant, sale, lease, or other financial agreement (other than tenants of rental assistance programs) which provides a financial interest or benefit from the agreement or activity, which is under consideration by the Board of Directors, committee, or other membership meeting.

When a conflict of interest exists, those with the conflict shall state the nature of the conflict verbally (oral/or written) at any meeting where the item is being discussed. They shall state their conflict at the beginning of the discussion of the relevant issue. Anyone with a conflict may take part in the discussion, but shall be required to abstain from a vote on the issue for which they have a conflict. Those attending the meeting should be made aware of the details of the conflict and it shall be recorded in the minutes. In addition, the EPIC conflict of interest policy shall be read at any meeting where financial, fiscal, or fiduciary matters are discussed and/or presented for voting prior to such discussion and/or vote.

If a conflict of interest has not been stated, the President or person facilitating the meeting may declare that he/she believes a conflict of interest exists if he/she believes that this is the case. A member attending the meeting may also notify the President of person facilitating the meeting if he/she believes there is a conflict of interest. The President or person facilitating the meeting will need to determine if this is the case. Once stated to be true, this ruling of the President or person facilitating the meeting is subject to being overruled following normal parliamentary procedures. It may also be necessary for the action to be tabled until the next meeting in order to clarify and investigate the potential conflict of interest. If there is a said contract, it will be considered invalid during this time.

Knowingly failing to submit a conflict of interest disclosure may constitute good cause for removal from the Board of Directors, relevant committee, or employment. Employees may be reassigned if they are working on matters involving any conflict of interest.

Board members, committee members, general members of the organization, consultants, and employees with actual or potential conflicts of interest shall not:

- 1. Attempt to influence an employee, Director, or committee member in any matter related to the action or decision in question; and
- 2. Take part or vote in the decision but may, with the consent of the President or person facilitating the meeting, participate in the discussion; and
- 3. Be counted toward a quorum during any portion of any meeting where the action or decision is to be considered.

If a conflict of interest has been determined after a contract has been signed, said contract shall be null and void immediately.

If balloting is deemed necessary in any conflict of interest case, that balloting shall be accomplished by a secret ballot.

Note: Conflict-of-Interest – Perceived or Real

All members of the community are encouraged to participate in EPIC business because it provides information and resources useful to the residents of this area. Oftentimes that information can be useful to the advancement of a person's life and well-being – that knowledge shall not be considered a conflict of interest.

ARTICLE VIII -COMMITTEES

Section 1: <u>Authority:</u> The Board of Directors may act by and through such committees as may be specified in resolutions adopted by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors. Standing Committees shall be those noted in Section 2 that follows. Each such committee shall have such duties and responsibilities as are granted to it from time to time by the Board of Directors, and shall

at all times be subject to the control and direction of the Board of Directors. Committees are advisory only and bring actions forward to the Board of Directors for its assessment and recommendation, which is forwarded along with the initiative to the general membership for ratification. Committee members need not be members of the Board of Directors.

Section 2: <u>The Executive Committee</u> shall consist of the President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer.

Section 3: Standing Committees:

- a. **East Phillips 17**th **Avenue Garden Committee** -Steering committee has responsibility for ongoing upkeep, financial and general management of EPIC's Community Garden. One member from the EPIC board is required to form a quorum at Garden meetings given EPIC's ownership following responsibility for the garden.
- b. **East Phillips Park Programming Partnership** -recruits partners, brings connectivity to the partners, assists the partners in finding scheduling in the East Phillips Park Cultural and Community Center and helps create smooth operating of the partnership arrangement.
- c. **Housing and Economic Development Committee:** The Housing and Economic Development Committee shall meet as needed and is responsible for developing, reviewing and implementing housing and development policies and plans for East Phillips Neighborhood. The committee shall prepare and continue to update the community on an ongoing basis about East Phillips development projects.
- Section 4: <u>Ad Hoc committees or Task Forces</u>: A committee or Task Force may be formed that will serve for a specific purpose and length of time as deemed necessary by the Board or general membership at its monthly meetings.
- Section 5: <u>Personnel Committee</u>: Shall consist of the Executive Committee and shall be responsible for all issues relating to personnel, especially employee issues, as they may arise.

ARTICLE IX - OTHER BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION

Section 1: Grievance Procedure:

1. Any neighborhood resident, business owner, or property owner may file a grievance against the corporation's Board of Directors as it relates to the fiduciary responsibilities of the Board if the person filing the grievance is a member of or eligible for membership in the corporation and the

person filing the grievance has brought the issue to the attention of the EPIC Board in a timely manner.

A grievance may only be filed against the Board of Directors collectively.

Only legitimate grievances as defined in EPIC Policies and Procedures can be filed against the neighborhood organization. See Policy on Grievances in EPIC Policies and Procedures.

Officers and Directors must meet specific standards of conduct and are responsible to the corporation (under pain of enforcement by State officials, e.g. the Attorney General) to comply with the spirit and reality of the following: As a matter of law, all non-profit governance is personally situated in the members of the Board of Directors. Directors must comply with and be cognizant of the following mandates they are obliged to meet, which are derived from both State Non-profit Corporation Law and State Charitable Trust Law (latter automatically apply to 501 © 3-recognized non-profits).

State Non-Profit Corporation statutes impose Three Key Fiduciary Duties on Boards collectively and upon Directors individually:

- a) **Duty of Care.** Under this Duty, directors are required at all times to see that the corporation's activities are carried out in accord with its mission, to oversee the organization's achievement of its mission through: (a) Prudently managing assets/activities and by setting goals and policies; (b) Overseeing the Executive Director's performance and implementation of policies; (c) Conducting regular board self-assessments; (d) Bringing appropriate scrutiny to managing assets and activities, including ensuring that accurate and complete financial records are maintained, timely and meaningful financial statements are prepared and presented to the Board including a budget that is prepared that anticipates the organization's activities and upcoming needs as well as regularly updating the corporation's strategic vision and goals.
- b) **Duty of Loyalty.** Under this Duty, Directors are required at all times to keep the long-term best interests of the corporation in mind. This duty requires that directors ensure that the corporation not only conducts activities appropriate to achieving the organization's mission but that the same be done in a way that furthers the best interest of the corporation. Further, under this duty, directors are responsible to keep corporate information (and opportunities) confidential. Directors will ensure that no one's personal interests, directly or indirectly, either cloud decision-making or are allowed to deflect attention from or unduly influence the determination of what is in the corporation's best interests. Directors must ensure that no director's, officer's, or key staff's own interests (or the interests of any entity or individual associated with a director, officer, or key staff) are preferred over the interests of the corporation. Included here is the mandate that Directors refrain from usurping corporate opportunities. In meeting this duty, Boards are responsible to adopt and follow a conflict of interest policy ("Conflict of interest" is shorthand for instances in which "divided loyalties" are or will be perceived as being present in the organization).

By following such policies, outsiders can be assured that the organization's governors acted knowledgeably and in serving the long-term best interests of the corporation over any party's personal interests. Procedures for ensuring that this duty is fulfilled are: notice, scrutiny and minutes. Finally, this duty requires that the Board of Directors work in concert with each other to the end of making collective decisions.

c) **Duty of Obedience.** Under this Duty, Directors are required at all times to: (a) follow organization's governing documents (Articles and By-laws) and honor the organization's mission; (b) insure that the corporation is complying with all laws and individually be familiar with the

organization's State and federal reporting requirements and the content and timely filing of those reports; and follow the organization's policies.

- 2. A grievance shall be made in writing on a designated grievance form, one grievance per form, and submitted to the President or the Board of Directors at a regularly scheduled Board meeting. The grievance must be completely described and a specific remedy proposed. The grievance must be accompanied by documentation verifying its credibility and must not be directed toward a specific individual. Grievances may only be filed in sequence and only after any previous grievance is completely resolved.
- 3. Upon receipt of the grievance, the EPIC Executive Committee shall consider the grievance and shall undertake an immediate fair investigation of the complaint, which may include private interviews of all parties related to the grievance at the discretion of the Executive Committee. Each interview will not last more than two hours. The Executive Committee shall prepare a report to the full Board of its findings with recommendations for Board approval. The Board may approve, reject or amend the findings and recommendations. A formal response shall be issued to the grievant within 60 days of receiving the grievance. This response will include the Board approved findings and resolution of the grievance. This concludes EPIC's grievance process.

ARTICLE X - INDEMNIFICATION

Section 1: <u>Coverage</u>: To the full extent permitted by any applicable law, this corporation shall indemnify each person made or threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed civil, criminal, administrative, arbitration, or investigative proceeding, including

- a) A director, officer, employee, or member of a committee of this corporation, or,
- b) A governor, director, officer, partner, trustee, employee, or agent of another organization (including employee benefit plans), who while a director, officer, employee, or member of a committee of this corporation, is or was serving another organization at the request of this corporation, or whose duties as a director, officer, employee, or member of a committee of this corporation involve or involved such service to another corporation.

Section 2: <u>Indemnified expenditures</u>: Indemnification is mandatory, if, with respect to the acts or omissions of the person complained of in the proceeding, in person:

- a) Acted in good faith;
- b) Received no improper personal benefit and section 317A.255 Minnesota Statutes, 1998, as now enacted or hereinafter amended, regarding conflict of interests has been satisfied;
- c) In the case of criminal proceedings, did not have reasonable cause to believe the conduct was unlawful; and
- d) In the case of acts of omissions occurring by a director, officer, employee or member of a committee of this corporation acting in such official capacity, reasonably believed that the conduct was in the best interests of this corporation, or whose duties as a director, officer, employee, or member of a committee of this corporation involve or involved such service to another organization, reasonably believed that the conduct was not opposed to the best interests of this corporation.

Section 3: <u>Eligibility</u>, <u>advances</u>, <u>and ancillary recovery</u>: Determination of eligibility for indemnification payments or advances shall be made in accord with section 317A.521, subd. 6 of Minnesota Statues, 1998, as now enacted or hereinafter amended. Advances of expenses incurred which are payable under Section 2 of this Article shall not be made prior to a final disposition of a proceeding unless same are paid from insurance policies held by the corporation. Any

indemnification realized other than under this Article shall apply as a credit against the indemnification provided herein.

Section 4: <u>Insurance</u>: This corporation may, to the full extent permitted by applicable law from time to time in effect, purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or member of a committee of this corporation against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person any such capacity.

ARTICLE XI - AMENDMENTS

Section 1: <u>Submission</u>: Proposed by-law amendments must be submitted to the Secretary to be sent out with regular meeting announcements and must be *reviewed and* discussed at the monthly meeting prior to the voting meeting.

Section 2: <u>Notification</u>: Notification of Bylaw amendments, both for the reviewing meeting and the General Membership Meeting at which the amending vote will take place, must occur not less than twenty-one (21) days at the General Membership Meeting prior to each of these meetings.

This means each meeting concerning Bylaw amendments both to review and to vote up or down, must have at least a twenty-one (21) day notification both through the EPIC meetings and to the broader community. The notification shall include the changes that are proposed.

Section 3: <u>Amending</u>: These EPIC Bylaws may be amended when necessary by a two-thirds majority of the members present at a meeting duly called for that purpose.

These Bylaws were approved at a meeting of the General Membership of the East Phillips Improvement Coalition, Inc. on April 12, 2006, further amended at the April 27th, 2013 Annual Meeting and again amended at the EPIC General Membership Meeting of August 10th, 2017.

Signature – President of EPIC	Date	Signature – Secretary of EPIC Dat	.e